S271054

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

DEBRA TURNER,

Petitioner,

v.

LAURIE ANNE VICTORIA, et al.

Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case Nos. D076318, D076337

San Diego County Superior Court
Trial Court Case No. 37-2017-00009873-PR-TR-CTL
The Honorable Julia C. Kelety, Dept. 503
(Appeal No. D076318)

San Diego County Superior Court
Trial Court Case No. 37-2018-00038613-CU-MC-CTL
The Honorable Kenneth J. Medel, Dept. C-66
(Appeal No. D076337)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED

Does a director or officer of a California nonprofit public benefit corporation that brings an action pursuant to Cal. Corp. Code sections 5142, 5233, and/or 5223 lose her standing to continue litigating her claims if she is not nominated or reelected during the litigation? Separately, does Cal. Corp. Code section 800's "continuous ownership" requirement for shareholder derivative standing in the for-profit context equally deprive nonprofit public benefit corporation members of derivative standing under Cal. Corp. Code section 5710?

II. INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case is about a director, officer, and member of a nonprofit public benefit corporation that witnessed other fiduciaries breach the charitable trust and act inconsistently with their duties of care and loyalty. That individual, acting responsibly and consistent with their own fiduciary duties, ultimately filed suit under the following special standing statutes in California's Nonprofit Public Benefit Corporation Law: (1) section 5142 standing of a director and officer to remedy breach of charitable trust; (2) section 5233 standing of a director and officer to seek remedies for a self-dealing transaction; (3) standing of a director to seek removal from office of another director; and (4) section 5710 standing for a member to sue derivatively on behalf of a nonprofit public benefit corporation. It is undisputed that Petitioner was a director, officer, and member of the nonprofit corporation at

the time that she brought the action under these statutes. The dispute is over whether she lost her standing to continue litigating the action after not being reelected as a director and officer.

The nonprofit public benefit corporation at issue is the Conrad Prebys Foundation (the "Foundation"), which was established by local San Diego businessman and philanthropist Conrad Prebys. The Petitioner is Debra Turner ("Turner"), who was the life partner of Conrad and a director, officer, and member of the Foundation when she initiated this litigation on May 15, 2017, to address the diversion of \$15 million in charitable funds to a noncharitable purpose. After suing her fellow fiduciaries, Turner was retaliated against and not nominated or reelected as an officer or director of the Foundation at the annual election held on November 7, 2017. The Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's finding that as a result of that carefully orchestrated election, Turner lost her standing as a director and officer under Cal. Corp. Code sections 5142, 5233, and 5223 (the "director standing statutes") and her derivative standing as a member under Cal. Corp. Code section 5710.

California Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1) provides for this Court's review of a Court of Appeal decision "when necessary to secure uniformity

_

¹ Cal. Corp. Code sections 5142, 5233, and 5223 are referred to collectively as the "director standing statutes," but sections 5142 and 5233 provide the same for officers.

of decision or to settle an important question of law." Both grounds for review exist here.

Review is needed because the Fourth District's determination that Turner lost her standing under the director standing statutes expressly and squarely disagrees with the Second District Court of Appeal on this same issue. In Summers v. Colette, the Second District held that "[i]n the absence of contrary legislative direction, we decline to read into these statutes a continuous directorship requirement." (Summers v. Colette (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 361, 374 (Summers) (emphasis added).) In finding against Turner, the Fourth District "recognize[d] that our colleagues in the Second District reached a different conclusion" but "disagree[d] with the Summers court's interpretation of the statutory language and legislative history as pointing away from a continuous directorship requirement for standing." (Opinion of the Fourth District [Ex. A] at 33-34.) This Court's review is therefore necessary to settle the split of authority between the Second District and the Fourth District, and to ensure uniformity in decisions moving forward.

Review is also warranted to clarify an important question of law and public policy in California by ensuring that a director, officer, and member of a California nonprofit public benefit corporation with well-pleaded allegations of misconduct by her fellow fiduciaries maintains standing under the applicable statutory scheme. (*See, e.g., Barefoot v. Jennings* (2020) 8

Cal.5th 822, 825 (Jennings) (review of narrow standing question under Probate code section 17200(a)).) The Legislature enacted the director standing statutes to empower private persons with direct knowledge of misconduct to "remedy a breach of a charitable trust" and curb "self-dealing transaction[s]" by their fellow officers or directors. This legislative purpose would be severely undermined (and even mooted) if the same defendants accused of wrongdoing are permitted to control the legal claims against them by effecting the ouster of the plaintiff director, officer, or member. The Second District in Summers confirmed that public policy favors a rule that permits fiduciary directors or officers of a nonprofit corporation to bring litigation to protect the nonprofit corporation and does not strip them of standing if they do not maintain their office over the entire course of the litigation. (Summers, 34 Cal.App.5th at 371-73.) Similar policy considerations require the Court's review of the question of whether section 800's "continuous ownership" requirement for shareholder derivative standing in the for-profit context applies to a member's derivative standing in the nonprofit context of section 5710. Granting review to consider these critical questions of standing that threaten the integrity of charitable trusts across California is appropriate.

If allowed to stand, the Fourth District's decision would render the special statutory standing that the California legislature has afforded fiduciaries of nonprofit corporations an ineffective nullity, as any director

defendant accused of wrongdoing could simply wait until the next election to freeze out the whistleblowing fiduciary and obtain dismissal of a properly filed suit. This absurd result is contrary to California's well-established public policy favoring proper supervision of nonprofit corporations and offends the equitable considerations recognized in *Summers* and *Grosset*, alike.

For these reasons, the Court should grant review and reverse the Fourth District. Consistent with the Second District in *Summers*, there is no "continuous directorship" requirement under the director standing statutes at sections 5142, 5233, and 5223. Separately, where (as here) the only members of a nonprofit public benefit corporation are the directors there is no "continuous membership" requirement under section 5170.

III. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Statement of the Facts.

During his lifetime, Conrad Prebys became a celebrated philanthropist in San Diego—having made over \$350 million worth of gifts to many local institutions. (9 AA 2015-16, 2022.) To continue that legacy, Conrad left the majority of his \$1 billion estate to charity through the Foundation, which was the remainder beneficiary under his Trust. (*Id.*)

Throughout fall 2016, Trustee Victoria and her attorney asked the Foundation Board to hastily pre-approve a settlement with Conrad's disinherited son, Eric Prebys. (9 AA 2031.) Turner raised corporate

governance concerns regarding a poorly-informed vote and concerns over the Board's adherence to their duties of care and loyalty to the Foundation but the Trustee's counsel dismissively responded that "this is where you decide that there isn't a conflict." (9 AA 2036-37.) The result was a rushed vote by the Board that led to the Trustee's improper diversion of \$15 million in charitable assets to a non-charitable purpose.

On May 15, 2017, Turner ultimately filed suit concerning this improper diversion of charitable funds after the rest of the Foundation Board ignored the demand letter and draft petition she delivered to the Board in March 2017. (9 AA 2040-41.) Turner brought claims against Laurie Anne Victoria, in her capacity as both Trustee and a director, as well as the three other directors—Joseph Gronotte, Gregory Rogers, and Anthony Cortes. (3 AA 545-63.)

In response, Victoria (in her dual role as Trustee and director) and the three other directors became openly hostile toward Turner and retaliated by freezing her out of the Foundation. After Turner sued, she became increasingly concerned the other directors would try to remove her from the Foundation. When she raised this concern, Director Rogers indicated the Board was not going to remove her "now." (9 AA 2042-43.)

During the annual Board meeting held on November 7, 2017, the other directors took turns nominating and seconding one another for re-election.

No one nominated or re-elected Turner, and she was asked to leave the

meeting. The other directors appeared gleeful over the results of the orchestrated election. (9 AA 2045.) Defendants later argued that Turner could have nominated herself, but Turner did not know this and was never told by Foundation counsel at the meeting that she could nominate herself.² (9 AA 2044-45, 2216.)

Any effort by Turner to self-nominate at the meeting would have been futile. This was confirmed when Turner sent a letter to the directors formally nominating herself for reelection to the open board seat. No one responded. (9 AA 2045-46; 2216.) As alleged, Turner believes that the director defendants retaliated against her and were "improperly motivated by their desire to cut off this litigation." (9 AA 2042-46.)

B. **Procedural History.**

1. **Probate Action.**

Turner filed the original probate petition on May 15, 2017, in the trust proceedings before the Probate Court pursuant to her undisputed role as a director and an officer of the Foundation under sections 5142(a), 5223(a), and 5233(c), and derivatively as a member on behalf of the Foundation under section 5710(b).

² Instead, Turner understood the self-nomination point to be just a proposal for the selection of officers after the directors had been re-elected. She also understood self-nomination to be contrary to the best practices for nonprofits. (9 AA 2044-45.)

Turner amended her petition on January 5, 2018 to, among other things, address the November 7, 2017 election. (3 AA 678-80.) Turner alleged causes of action against Victoria (as a director and trustee) and the other director defendants for breach of charitable trust, breach of their duties of care and loyalty, self-dealing, and breach of trustee's fiduciary duties, among other causes of action. (3 AA 556-63.) Victoria and the Foundation each filed demurrers asserting that Turner had lost her standing to maintain the action. (3 AA 704-47, 774-95.)

On its own motion, the probate court ordered the causes of action against the directors to be severed from the Probate Action and transferred to the civil department to be determined in a separate civil action. (2 RT 64-70; 4 AA 988-1032.)

2. Civil Action

On August 2, 2018, Turner filed a civil complaint on the four claims against the director defendants (for breach of charitable trust, breach of duty of care, breach of duty of loyalty and self-dealing, and removal) that the Probate Court severed and transferred, which she later amended in a First Amended Complaint ("FAC"). (8 AA 2012.)

At the time the demurrers to the FAC were filed, no California decision had directly addressed whether a director, officer, or member of a nonprofit public benefit corporation maintains if she loses her position as a director, officer, or member after properly filing suit under the director

bistrict Court of Appeal answered this question definitively in favor of Turner when it "decline[d] to read into these statutes a continuous directorship requirement." (*Summers*, 34 Cal.App.5th at 374 (holding plaintiff "had standing under sections 5233, 5142, and 5223 at the time she instituted this action, and her subsequent removal as director did not deprive her of standing").)

3. Entry of Judgment and Appeal

Despite *Summers*, the Civil Court sustained defendants' demurrers without leave to amend on grounds that Turner lacked standing to continue the litigation after she did not maintain her position as a director or officer of the Foundation. (10 AA 2458.) The Probate Court sustained the demurrers based solely on the Civil Court's decision. (4 RT 220: 5-8, 11-15; 5 AA 1278.)

Turner's consolidated appeal followed. After the parties completed briefing, the Attorney General filed an amicus brief in support of Turner's standing under the director standing statutes and *Summers*. Notwithstanding *Summers* and the Attorney General's support for Turner's position, the Fourth District affirmed the judgments.

IV. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

- A. The Court Should Grant Review to Secure Uniformity of Decision.
 - 1. Under the Second District's holding in *Summers*, Turner did not lose her standing to continue the litigation under the director standing statutes.

In *Summers*, the Second District decided this issue by declining "to read into these statutes a continuous directorship requirement." (*Summers*, 34 Cal.App.5th at 374.) Under *Summers*, Turner would have standing to continue litigating her claims under the director standing statutes. In finding that Turner lost her standing when she was not reelected for another term, the Fourth District expressly noted its disagreement with and departure from *Summers*. (Ex. A at 33-36.)

In *Summers*, a director of a nonprofit corporation initiated a lawsuit against other directors for, *inter alia*, breach of fiduciary duties and charitable trust under the director standing statutes. (*Summers*, 34 Cal.App.5th at 364.) Subsequently, the defendant directors orchestrated a vote to remove Summers from the board of directors. Summers conceded, and the court agreed, that this removal was a proper exercise of the board's authority. (*Summers*, 34 Cal.App.5th at 365.). However, the court held that, because of the special standing provided to directors of nonprofit corporations, the loss of her position on the Board did not strip Summers of standing to continue the litigation that she properly initiated. The Second District found

merit in the plaintiff-director's contention that "she continues to have standing under the [director standing] statutes that authorized her to bring the action[.]" (Summers, 34 Cal.App.5th at 366.)

Summers directly addresses the three director standing statutes at issue in this case: Cal. Corp. Code sections 5142, 5233, and 5223. (*Id.* at 367-68.) Like Summers, the parties here "do not dispute that these statutes give a director standing to institute an action such as this one." (*Id.* at 368.) The parties "dispute whether, under these statutes, removing a director who has instituted the action deprives the director of standing to continue to pursue it." (*Id.*) In Summers, the ouster was effected by a formal vote to remove the plaintiff defendant. (*Id.* at 364-65.) Here, the ouster was effected through an expiring term and orchestrated freezeout election. (9 AA 2015.) In both cases, the question is the same, "whether these statutes impose a 'continuous directorship' requirement." (Summers, 34 Cal.App.5th at 368.) The Second District found that the statutes did *not* impose a "continuous directorship" requirement, which is the same position advanced by Turner. (*Id.* at 368.)

In analyzing the statutory language, the Second District found that when "[c]onsidered in isolation, the plain language of the three statutes is inconclusive." (Summers, 34 Cal.App.5th at 368.) While "[t]he statutes provide a director 'may bring' the action," the language does not answer the critical question because the statutes "do not say whether, having brought the action, the plaintiff must continue to be a director to continue to have

standing." (*Id.* (emphasis added).) But when this language is considered within the context of the statutory framework in which it was adopted, the Second District found that both the "statutory purpose and public policy" as well as "the statutory language at issue" weighed against a continuous directorship requirement. (*Id.* at 368-72.)

The Second District found that "considerations of statutory purpose and public policy" favored a rule that does not strip directors or officers of a nonprofit corporation of standing if they do not maintain their office over the entire course of the litigation. (Summers, 34 Cal.App.5th at 370-71.) In doing so, the Second district examined this Court's decision in Holt v. College of Osteopathic Physicians and Surgeons (1964) 61 Cal.2d 750 (Holt), which demonstrates "the statutory purpose and public policy served by permitting trustees to sue." (Summers, 34 Cal.App.5th at 371).) In Holt, this Court addressed how the Attorney General's office may not have sufficient resources or be best positioned to identify and litigate an issue, and thus reasoned that "[a]lthough the Attorney General has primary responsibility for the enforcement of charitable trusts, the need for adequate enforcement is not wholly fulfilled by the authority given to him. . . . The administration of charitable trusts stands only to benefit if in addition to the Attorney General other suitable means of enforcement are available." (Holt, 61 Cal.2d at 755-56.)

In *Summers*, the Second District recognized that the subsequent codification *Holt* with the enactment of the director standing statutes recognizes the Legislature's understanding that a charitable trust's representatives are "in the best position to learn about breaches of trust and to bring the relevant facts to the court's attention." (*Summers*, 34 Cal.App.5th at 372 (quoting *Holt*, 61 Cal.2d at 756).) The Second District found these "same principles weigh against reading into the statutes at issue here a continuous directorship requirement that would unnecessarily deprive the Attorney General and the public of the assistance of 'responsible individuals' wishing to pursue an action under those statutes." (*Summers*, 34 Cal.App.5th at 371-72.) This is because a plaintiff director "who files an action such as this one will continue to provide the advantages identified in *Holt* even if later removed from office." (*Id.*)

The Second District further found that the absence of a "continuous directorship" requirement does not offend "the purpose of having a standing requirement" which is "to protect a defendant from harassment from other claimants on the same demand." (*Summers*, 34 Cal.App.5th at 372 (internal quotation and citation omitted).) It recognized that "directors authorized to bring an action on behalf of a nonprofit corporation have been charged with managing the corporation's affairs, and those permitted to maintain an action in the absence of a continuous directorship requirement are sufficiently 'few in number.'" (*Summers*, 34 Cal.App.5th at 372.)

Like Holt and Summers, the Attorney General appreciates that "[p]ersons who stand in a special relationship with the nonprofit corporation, such as its directors and officers, are often in the best position to learn about breaches of trust and to bring the relevant facts to a court's attention." (Amicus Br. at 18.) The Attorney General views the "participation" of such private persons as "essential and complementary to the Attorney General's enforcement work." (Amicus Br. at 18.) The Attorney General also understands that a properly instituted action under the director standing statutes does not suddenly become vexatious or harassing litigation if the plaintiff ceases to be a director or an officer. "Whether they continue to hold their positions or not due to actions by the majority board or for some other reason, the knowledge those former directors and officers have regarding a breach or damage to the corporation is not altered and therefore does [not] make them any less responsible persons to see the litigation to conclusion." (Amicus Br. at 18.)

Other jurisdictions that "have decided against reading a continuous directorship requirement into statutes authorizing directors to bring actions on behalf of corporations" further support a finding of no continuous directorship requirement. (See Summers, 34 Cal.App.5th at 372.) Both Tenney v. Rosenthal (NY Ct. App. 1959) 6 N.Y.2d 204 (Tenney), and Workman v. Verde Wellness Center, Inc. (Ariz. Ct. App. 2016) 240 Ariz. 597 (Workman), cited policy considerations in refusing to read a continuous

directorship requirement into a statute that was silent on it. The following policy explanation from *Tenney* is critical:

Strong reasons of policy dictate that, once he properly initiates an action on behalf of the corporation to vindicate its rights, a director should be privileged to see it through to conclusion. Other directors, themselves charged with fraud, misconduct or neglect, should not have the power to terminate the suit by effecting the ouster of the director-plaintiff. It is no answer to say that, if wrongs were committed, others are available to commence a new and appropriate action.

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