## No. S271054

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

## DEBRA TURNER,

Petitioner,

v.

## LAURIE ANNE VICTORIA, et al.,

Respondents.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case Nos. D076318, D076337

> San Diego County Superior Court Trial Case No. 37-2017-00009873-PR-TR-CTL The Honorable Julia C. Kelety, Dept. 503 (Appeal No. D076318)

> San Diego County Superior Court Trial Case No. 37-2018-00038613-CU-MC-CTL The Honorable Kenneth J. Medel, Dept. C-66 (Appeal No. D076337)

### **3<sup>RD</sup> PETITION** RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

## A. Review Is Not Necessary to Secure Uniformity of Law Because the Court of Appeal's Holding Does Not Conflict with *Summers*' Holding

The issue in this case is "whether a director of a nonprofit public benefit corporation who brings an action on behalf of the nonprofit public benefit corporation can lose standing to pursue its claim if the director is not reelected during the litigation." (Op. at 2; see also Pet. at 5.) Petitioner portrays the Court of Appeal as "expressly and squarely disagree[ing] with the Second District Court of Appeal on this same issue." (Pet. at 7.) But the Court of Appeal's holding does not conflict with the Second District's holding in *Summers v. Colette* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 361 for two related reasons: (1) Petitioner was not *removed* from her positions; rather her terms expired; and (2) *Summers* dealt with "equitable considerations surrounding the removal of a director and the absence of notice to the Attorney General"—considerations that are demonstrably absent here. (Op. at 34.)

In Summers, the plaintiff was one of four directors of a nonprofit public benefit corporation. She filed a representative suit alleging that another director engaged in acts of self-dealing and breaches of fiduciary duty. In response, the defendant director orchestrated a procedurally improper vote to remove Summers from the board. (Summers, supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 364.) Even after the trial court enjoined the corporation from conducting board meetings without notifying the plaintiff, "the board again voted to remove Summers," this time at a properly noticed meeting. (Id. at p. 365.) The issue was whether "Summers, who as a director had standing to bring this action when she filed it, lost standing [under the Director Standing Statutes] when the [board] later removed her as a director." (*Id.* at p. 364.) The Second District held that Summers' "subsequent removal as director did not deprive her of standing." (*Id.* at p. 374.)

Here, in contrast, "[u]nlike the Summers plaintiff, Turner was not removed as a director under the Foundation's bylaws." (Op. at 35.) Her term as Foundation director elapsed at a meeting she chaired. During elections at which she presided, she did not renominate herself and received no nomination. Thus, no vote was taken concerning her, and "[s]he was simply not reelected at the board's annual meeting." (Ibid.) Therefore, the Court of Appeal explicitly stated that *Summers* was distinguishable from this case: "[T]he **Summers** with court was concerned equitable considerations surrounding the removal of a director and the absence of notice to the Attorney General. These considerations are not before us." (Id. at 34, italics added.) Indeed, Turner acknowledges that the Court of Appeal "distinguish[ed] the situation in *Summers* from Turner's situation." (Pet. at 23.) That is reason enough to conclude there is no split of authority requiring this Court's review.

To try to create a conflict with *Summers*, Turner claims that the Court of Appeal did not give proper weight to her "well-pleaded allegations" and argues that "[t]he alleged facts are sufficient to support that the November 7, 2017 vote was in direct retaliation for Turner's refusal to approve the settlement and her initiation of this litigation." (Pet. at 34; see also *id.* at 24.) In short, Turner seeks this Court's review based on her vague conjecture about supposedly being "frozen out," which she believes constitutes an "effective removal" or "ouster" that entitles her to perpetual standing to pursue the Foundation's claims. (*Id.* at 23–24, 34.)

This is a blatant attempt to obtain review for purported error correction, and, in any event, the Court of Appeal correctly applied the legal standard governing review of orders sustaining demurrers. (Op. at 16–17.) After a thorough review of Turner's allegations (id. at 7-12), the Court of Appeal concluded that "Turner's allegations that the other directors appeared hostile to her, tried to freeze her out, and did not nominate her because she initiated this litigation, are speculative contentions or conclusions of law that do not amount to a material factual pleading that her removal was wrongful." (Id. at 35; see also Wolf v. CDS Devco (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 903, 921 [the plaintiff "cannot successfully plead, as a matter of law, that it was wrongful for the board to decline to renominate [her] as a director"].) Thus, this case does not conflict with Summers, where it was undisputed from the pleadings that the board of directors "removed [Summers] as a director."<sup>1</sup> (Summers, supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at pp. 364–365, italics added.) And to the extent Turner attempts to challenge the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Attorney General expresses concern about litigants potentially being "forced to split hairs regarding the facts of how the director ended her term" (Amicus Curiae Ltr. at 3), but that is hypothetical. Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeal concluded that Turner's pleadings admitted that her term expired, and that she was not removed. Similarly, the court in *Summers* had no trouble determining from the pleadings that Summers was removed.

Court of Appeal's statement of the material facts, Turner has waived any ability to do so by failing to file a petition for rehearing. (*People v. Guilford* (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 651, 660–661; see Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2); *Torres v. Parkhouse Tire Service Inc.* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 995, 1000, fn. 2.)

Similarly, Turner wrongly asks for review on the ground that the Court of Appeal "disagree[d] with the Summers court's interpretation of the statutory language and legislative history." (Pet. at 22.) But there is no conflict with Summers' holding and therefore any disagreement is irrelevant for purpose of this petition; both courts' holdings rest on whether there was any removal at all. (See Hoyem v. Manhattan Beach City Sch. Dist. (1978) 22 Cal.3d 508, 518, fn. 3 [rejecting defendant's reliance on "dicta interpreting the instant statute" and distinguishing case because it dealt with different factual situation]; Chau v. Starbucks Corp. (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 688, 702, fn. 6 [declining to "express an opinion on the merits of [another court of appeal's] interpretation" of a statute where such interpretation was dicta].)

The Attorney General argues that "[w]hether a director's term ended or she was ousted from the board" has no legal significance, because either way "the director-plaintiff is now a former director." (Amicus Curiae Ltr. at 3.) But the distinction plainly has legal significance, as demonstrated by *Grosset*, in which this Court (1) held that a derivative plaintiff loses standing "when the stockholder relationship is terminated, either voluntarily or involuntarily," but (2) left open the possibility that if the termination is *wrongful*, "equitable considerations may warrant an exception to the continuous ownership requirement." (Grosset, supra, 42 Cal.4th at pp. 1115, 1119; see also, e.g., Villari v. Mozilo (2012) 208 Cal.App.4th 1470, 1483; Lewis v. Ward (Del. 2004) 852 A.2d 896, 900, 905.) Of course, Grosset did not hold that wrongful termination created an equitable exception, because "no such circumstances appear[ed]" there. (Grosset, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1119.) So too here; this case simply does not present that question, as the Court of Appeal held on the facts pleaded.

In sum, *Summers* and the Court of Appeal's holding in this case are not in conflict because they govern two opposite situations. Where a plaintiff director is *wrongfully removed* after filing suit, *Summers* controls, and the plaintiff cannot be deprived of standing by the very defendant accused of the wrongful conduct. Where a plaintiff director is not removed, and instead merely is *not reelected*, the Court of Appeal's decision here controls, and *merely* and *applying general standing principles*—the plaintiff *can* and *does* lose standing.<sup>2</sup> There is no conflict requiring this Court's review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Implicitly recognizing the lack of conflict among the California courts, Petitioner also relies on two out-of-state decisions considering other states' laws. (See Pet. at 18–22, 29, 33–34, citing *Tenney v. Rosenthal* (1959) 6 N.Y.2d 204, and *Workman v. Verde Wellness Center, Inc.* (Ariz.Ct.App. 2016) 240 Ariz. 597.) But here, too, there is no conflict. Neither *Tenney* nor *Workman* involved a plaintiff director whose term expired naturally due to the passage of time; instead, in both cases, as *Summers* emphasized when addressing them, the plaintiff "was removed as a director" after filing suit. (*Summers, supra,* 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 373.)

## B. Petitioner Has Not Identified Any Important or Unsettled Question of Law

The petition also fails to articulate any important and unsettled legal questions warranting this Court's review.

Contrary to Petitioner's contention, there is no need to "clarify" the law regarding whether a director who loses her position during litigation also loses standing to pursue a representative claim. (Pet. at 7.) To the contrary, it has long been settled under California law that "[f]or a lawsuit properly to be allowed to continue, standing must exist at all times until judgment is entered and not just on the date the complaint is filed." (Op. at 17, quoting Californians for Disability Rights, supra, 39 Cal.4th at p. 232.) This principle of continuous standing applies to all lawsuits but is especially important for representative claims "[t]o ensure . . . adequate[] represent[ation]," and to guard against the purportedly represented entity being subject to harassment and "vexatious" litigation that would prejudice its governance and operations. (Grosset, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1118; Hardman v. Feinstein (1987) 195 Cal.App.3d 157, 162.) As to charitable trusts in particular, this Court determined in *Holt* that only a limited class of persons have standing to enforce charitable trusts: the Attorney General, and a trust's "fiduciaries who are both few in number and charged with the duty of managing the charity's affairs." (*Holt, supra*, 61 Cal.2d at p. 755.) Similarly, in the corporation context, this Court held in Grosset that "California law ... generally requires a plaintiff in a shareholder's derivative suit to maintain continuous stock ownership throughout the pendency of the litigation." (Grosset, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1119.)

The Court of Appeal saw no reason to depart from these bedrock principles in the Director Standing Statutes, and concluded that "[e]ach of these statutes are derivative in the sense that the gravamen of an action brought by an authorized individual seeks to obtain remedies on behalf of the corporation." (Op. at 32, citing *Grosset, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1108; see also Op. at 31 [concluding that section 5710 "requires continuous membership in the nonprofit public benefit corporation to bring a derivative action" because, "[a]s with general corporations, the derivative claim belongs to the nonprofit public benefit corporation"].) Thus, this case does not present a novel question requiring further clarity from this Court—it simply presents the application of a long line of standing principles to the particular facts of this case.

As to Petitioner's argument regarding the legislative purpose and public policy underlying the Director Standing Statutes (Pet. at 8), again, this case does not present these concerns because *Turner was not removed from the Board*. (See *supra* at pp. 15–16; Op. at 34 ["These considerations are not before us."].) The true question presented by Turner is not whether longheld standing principles threaten California nonprofit corporations. Rather, it is whether the Court of Appeal got it right in *this* case based on its unique factual circumstances. (See *supra* at pp. 16–17.)

Similarly, Petitioner's arguments concerning legislative intent (Pet. at 7–9, 26–30) do nothing more than urge review for purported error correction—and they ignore both the statutory scheme and the significant deficiencies in her claims. First. Petitioner incorrectly claims that "[i]f a plaintiff director or officer can lose their standing . . . through any failure of reelection, this would render the statutory framework an ineffective nullity" because "all directors have terms that are subject to election," and "civil trial court and appellate proceedings take multiple years each." (Pet. at 27.) But the vast majority of civil cases are resolved within two years, and the Foundation's director terms are up to three years depending on the timing of the annual meeting. (Judicial Council of Cal., 2021 Court Statistics Report: Statewide Caseload Trends at 80. available at https://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/2021-Court-Statistics-

Report.pdf; 9 AA 2123.) Moreover, Petitioner has identified only two reported instances in more than 40 years where a plaintiff director sued under the Director Standing Statutes and lost their position during the lawsuit—and only one (*Summers*) where the director was removed. And the statute expressly lists others with standing to sue on a nonprofit's behalf, including the Board as a whole, other individual directors and officers, the Attorney General, or individuals the Attorney General appoints as relators.

Second, Petitioner says the Court of Appeal ignored "the practical limits to the Attorney General's level of engagement," but that is not so. (Pet. at 28.) The court explained that "[u]nlike in *Summers* or *Holt*, there is no concern here that the Attorney General may not be in the position to become aware of the wrongful conduct or to be sufficiently familiar with the situation to appreciate its impact." (Op. at 40, internal citations and quotations omitted.) The Attorney General "had notice of both the probate and civil actions, has been involved . . . since the beginning, and is well aware of the issues." (*Ibid.*) Indeed, the deputy Attorney General stated that "[i]f my office does determine that a petition or complaint is necessary, we would absolutely file that." (*Id.* at 41.)

*Third*, Petitioner says the Court of Appeal should not have viewed the relator process as "an appropriate substitute" for the Director Standing Statutes. (Pet. at 28.) But Petitioner mischaracterizes the Court of Appeal's decision, and ultimately mounts a meritless attack on decisions by the Legislature. The Court of Appeal simply recognized that the statutory scheme addresses the practical concerns faced by the Attorney General by "allowing litigation on behalf of a public benefit corporation by a defined class of individuals in addition to the Attorney General." (Op. at 38, italics added.) The Director Standing Statutes expressly include standing for a relator—an individual who the Attorney General designates to litigate a matter. (Id. at 39.) In fact, the Court of Appeal remanded so the Attorney General could determine "whether granting relator status to Turner, or another individual, for these claims is appropriate." (Id. at 4.) The petition omits this aspect of the Court of Appeal's decision entirely.

Finally, Petitioner urges this Court to address whether the "continuous ownership" requirement for shareholder derivative standing applies to derivative standing under section 5710. (Pet. at 31.) But *Grosset* answered the question by interpreting an identical statutory provision in the for-profit statutes, and there is

an express legislative intent in the nonprofit statutes to "follow" the approach in the for-profit statutes.<sup>3</sup> Moreover, the Court of Appeal noted that *Grosset* found that "other considerations" including minimizing abuse of derivative suits and the "basic legal principles pertaining to corporations"—ultimately supported a continuous ownership requirement (Op. at 29, quoting *Grosset*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1114), and, not surprisingly, concluded that these same bedrock considerations apply to nonprofit public benefit corporations. (Op. at 31–32.) The risk of harm to the corporation from vexatious and harassing litigation by a purported representative who is untethered from any "fiduciary obligations" is one reason for the continuous standing requirement. (*Id.* at 33.) This Court's decision in *Grosset* does not need to be restated.

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